

# **Strategies in Enhancing Secondary Metabolites Production in Plant Cell Cultures**

# Anna P. K. Ling<sup>1\*</sup> • S. L. Ong<sup>2</sup> • H. Sobri<sup>3</sup>

1 Department of Human Biology, International Medical University (IMU), Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia <sup>2</sup> Department of Science, Faculty of Engineering and Science, Tunku Abdul Rahman University (UTAR), Setapak, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia <sup>3</sup> Agrotechnology and Bioscience Division, Malaysian Nuclear Agency, Bangi, 43000 Kajang, Selangor, Malaysia

Corresponding author: \* anna ling@imu.edu.my

# ABSTRACT

Conventionally, pharmaceutically important secondary metabolites such as flavonoids were extracted directly from whole plants collected from the wild. This conventional method is not cost effective and could even lead to extinction of some endangered plant species. Furthermore, the production of uniform quantity and quality secondary metabolites will be affected as their production is greatly influenced by geographical, seasonal and environmental variations. Biotechnological approaches, specifically, plant tissue culture techniques, have been considered as an attractive solution to the problems of extracting secondary metabolites for industrial applications. Nevertheless, the commercial implementation of pilot scale plant cell suspensions for chemical production is still in the development stage with a few exceptional cases. The major setback is the failure of cell cultures to accumulate significant amounts of secondary metabolites compared to whole plants or organ cultures. Even so, several strategies can be applied in order to substantially increase the yields of secondary metabolites in plant cell cultures. This paper discussed the strategies of nutrient manipulation, precursor feeding and elicitation in enhancing the production of secondary metabolites.

Keywords: callus culture, cell suspension culture, plant biotechnology, secondary metabolites Abbreviations: 2,4-D, 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid; B5, Gamborg medium; MS, Murashige and Skoog; IAA, indole-3-acetic acid; NAA, 1-naphthaleneacetic acid; PGR, plant growth regulator

# CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	94
MANIPULATION OF CULTURE MEDIUM	
Inorganic salts	
Vitamins	
Carbon sources and concentrations	
Medium pH	
Plant growth regulators	
ELICITATION	
PRECURSOR FEEDING	
FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	
REFERENCES	

# INTRODUCTION

With the increasing concern on the side effects caused by modern synthetic or chemical drugs, medicinal plants remain the main source of a large range of basic healthcare and pharmaceutical products. Successful attempts to produce some of the valuable pharmaceuticals in relatively large quantities by cell cultures have been reported. Production of taxol, a popular anticancer drug, by cell cultures of various Taxus species is one of the most extensively explored and promising areas of plant cell cultures (Christen et al. 1989; Tabata 2004) owing to the enormous commercial value of taxol, the scarcity and slow growth of the Taxus tree, low contents of taxol and the costly synthetic process (Cragg et al. 1993; Tabata 2004; Croteau et al. 2006; Guo et al. 2006; Zhang et al. 2011). Another notable example is the large-scale production of pharmaceutically important compounds, ginsenoside and vinblastine, in the cell suspension cultures of Panax notoginseng and Catha-

ranthus roseus, respectively (Smith et al. 1987). Table 1 shows a list of other secondary metabolites that have been successfully produced in cell suspension cultures of various medicinal plants. Other examples include shikonin production by cell suspension cultures of Lithospermum erythrorhizon and berberine production by Coptis japonica (Fujita and Tabata 1987). Rosmarinic acid production by cell cultures of Coleus blumeli has also been achieved on a large scale. Similarly, sanguinarine, which has market potential as oral hygiene products has been produced in Papaver somniferum (Eilert et al. 1985; Ulbrich et al. 1985). Production of ajmalicine from Catharanthus roseus were successfully upscaled from shake-flask culture to bioreactor (Ten Hoopen et al. 1994). Recent study by Amdoun et al. (2009), production of tropane alkaloids, which are important natural compounds used as pharmaceuticals ingredients, were reported to have produced from hairy root culture of Datura stramonium L.

Nevertheless, the commercial implementation of pilot

|--|

Species	Active ingredient	Culture medium	References
Cassia acutifolia	Anthraquinones	MS + 2,4-D (4.52 µM), kinetin (0.47 µM), sucrose (0.088 M), myo-inositol (555.06	Nazif et al. 2000
		μM )	
Catharanthus roseus	Indole alkaloids	MS + sucrose (0.088 M)	Moreno et al. 1993
Catharanthus roseus	Catharanthine	MS + NAA (10.74 µM), IAA (11.42 µM), kinetin (0.47 µM), sucrose (0.088 M)	Zhao et al. 2001
Cinchona robusta	Robustaquinones	B5 + 2,4-D (9.04 μM), kinetin (0.93 μM), cystine (208.07 μM), sucrose (0.058 M)	Schripsema et al. 1999
Fragaria ananassa	Anthocyanin	LS + 2,4-D (4.52 µM), BA (0.44 µM), phenylalanine (100 mM)	Edahiro et al. 2005
Isoplexis isabellina	Anthraquinones	MS + 2,4-D (5 $\mu$ M), kinetin (10 $\mu$ M)	Arrebola et al. 1999
Lycium chinense	Cerebroside	MS + 2,4-D (1.0 ppm), kinetin (0.1 ppm)	Jang et al. 1998
Morinda citrifolia	Anthraquinones	<sup>1</sup> / <sub>4</sub> MS + IBA (24.60 µM), sucrose (0.088 M)	Baque et al. 2010
Polygonum hydropiper	Flavonoids	MS + 2,4-D (10 $\mu$ M), kinetin (10 $\mu$ M), casamino acid (0.1%), sucrose (3%)	Nakao et al. 1999
Rauwolfia sellowii	Alkaloids	B5 + 2,4-D (4.52 μM), kinetin (0.93 μM), sucrose (0.088 M)	Rech et al. 1998
Taxus baccata	Taxol baccatin III	B5 (salts) + 3X B5 vitamins, 2,4-D (20 μM), kinetin (4 μM) + GA <sub>3</sub> (1 μM)	Cusido et al. 1999
Taxus spp.	Taxol	B5 medium + 2,4-D (0.91 $\mu$ M), BA (2.22 $\mu$ M), casein hydrolysate (200 mg/L), sucrose (0.088 M)	Wu et al. 2001
Taxus wallichiana	Taxol	1/2 WPMSH, IBA (9.84 µM), SH vitamins	Datta et al. 2006
Torreya nucifera var. radicans	Diterpenoids	MS + 2,4-D (45.24 $\mu M$ ), casamino acid (1 g/L), coconut milk (7%) and K^+ instead of NH4^+	Orihara et al. 2002

Abbreviations: 2,4-D: 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid; NAA: 1-naphthaleneacetic acid; GA<sub>3</sub>: gibberellic acid; IAA: indole-3-acetic acid; IBA: indole-3-butyric acid; BA: 6-benzyl adenine; B5: Gamborg's medium; LS: Linsmaier and Skoog medium; MS: Murashige and Skoog medium; WPMSH: Lloyd and McCown's medium supplemented with Schenk Hilderbrandt vitamins

scale plant cell suspension for chemical production is still in the development stage with a few exceptional cases (Eibl and Eibl 2008). For most of the compounds of interest such as morphine, quinine, vinblastine, atropine, scopolamine and digoxin, they are yet to come to a commercially feasible process (Verpoorte et al. 1994). The major setback is the failure of cell cultures to accumulate significant amounts of secondary metabolites compared to whole plants or organ cultures. Collin and Watts (1984) ascribed this to the lack of morphological and cellular differentiation that is necessary for the expression of many plant secondary metabolites in cell cultures. In addition, low growth rate as well as the difficulty in isolating a hyper-producing mutant line limited the number of large-scale industrial production using plant cell culture technology (Shinmyo et al. 1998). Even so, many biotechnological strategies have been hypothesized and experimented for enhanced production of secondary metabolites from plants. Some of these include screening of high yielding cell line, medium modification, precursor feeding, elicitation, large-scale cultivation in bioreactor system, hairy root culture, plant cell immobilization, biotransformation, engineered bacterium platform approach, gamma irradiation and microporpagation, among others (Dornenburg and Knorr 1995; Bhalsingh and Maheshwari 1998; Rao and Ravishankar 2002; Vanisree et al. 2004; Karup-pusamy 2009; Jan et al. 2011; Reinsvold et al. 2011). There are also attempts to cultivate shoot and root cultures for the production of medicinally important compounds as these organ cultures are relatively more stable (Bourgaud et al. 2001).

#### MANIPULATION OF CULTURE MEDIUM

Many of the constituents of plant cell culture medium are important determinants of growth and accumulation of secondary metabolites. A number of chemical and physical factors affecting cultivation have been tested extensively with various plant cells. These factors include media components, plant growth regulators, pH, temperature, aeration, agitation, light etc. Medium manipulation is the most fundamental approach in plant cell culture technology. As an example, **Table 2** shows the effects of different medium formulation on biomass and serpentine production in cell suspension cultures of *Catharanthus roseus*.

#### Inorganic salts

One of the most commonly used media for plant tissue cultures is that developed by Murashige and Skoog (MS) (1962) for tobacco tissue culture. The significant feature of MS medium is its very high concentration of nitrate, potas-

Table 2 Effects of different media on growth and serpentine product	ion
in cell suspension cultures of Catharanthus roseus.	

Basal medium	Cell yield (g DW/L)	Serpentine (mg/L)	Serpentine content (% DW)
Blaydes	7.6	4.4	0.06
Gamborg + 1 mg/L 2, 4-D	4.6	0.5	0.01
Gamborg + 2 mg/L 2, 4-D	5.2	0	0
Gamborg + 1.86 mg/L NAA	7.6	1.2	00.02
Gamborg	5.1	0	0
Heller + 0.175 mg/L IAA + 1.13	5.4	6.6	0.12
mg/L BA			
Linsmaier and Skoog	8.9	0	0
Murashige and Skoog	2.3	10.4	0.12
Nitsch and Nitsch	2.0	2.0	0.09
Velicky and Martin	5.0	0	0
White	0.8	0	0

Source: Misawa 1994

sium and ammonia.  $B_5$  medium established by Gamborg *et al.* (1968) is also used by many researchers. The levels of inorganic nutrients in B5 medium are lower than in MS medium. Studies on the influence of various basal media on *Catharanthus roseus* demonstrated that the amount of serpentine produced depends on the composition of the basal medium used (Misawa 1994).

Nitrogen concentration was found to affect the level of secondary metabolites in cell suspension culture as it regulates the expression of specific proteins through mechanisms affecting the transcription and mRNA stability (Sugiharto and Sugiyama 1992). The nitrogen sources are important for secondary metabolites synthesis of compounds such as alkaloids, anthocyanins and shikonins from cell suspension cultures (Kim and Chang 1990; Zhong 2001). The plant tissue culture medium such as MS or B5 has both nitrate and ammonium as sources of nitrogen. However, the ratio of the ammonium/nitrate-nitrogen and overall levels of total nitrogen have been shown to markedly affect the production of secondary plant products (Rao and Ravishankar 2002; Smetanska 2008). It is a general trend that a lower ammonium  $(NH_4^+)$  to nitrate  $(NO_3^-)$  ratio is more favorable for plant tissue and cell growth (Wu and Zhong 1999), such as those reported in Panax ginseng cells (Ushiyama 1991). Meanwhile, complete elimination of nitrate in cultures of Chrysanthemum cinerariaefolium induced a two-fold increase in pyrethrin accumulation during the second phase of the culture (Rajasekaran et al. 1991). As reported by Lee et al. (2011), growing root culture of mulberry (Morus alba L.) in medium containing lower NH4<sup>+</sup>/NO3<sup>-</sup> ration resulted in a greater rutin production than growth in a medium containing a higher ratio of nitrogen sources.

Phosphorus is another key nutrient for plant cell growth. Its concentration in the medium can also have a major effect on the production of secondary metabolites in plant cell cultures. It is a key role in all metabolic processes including energy transfer, signal transduction, biosynthesis of macromolecules, photosynthesis and respiration (Raghothama 2000). Higher levels of phosphate were found to enhance cell growth but caused a negative influence on secondary product accumulation (Rao and Ravishankar 2002). Zhang and Zhong (1997) found that an increase in initial phosphate from 1.25 to 3.75 mM enhanced both cell growth and saponin yield in suspension cultures of *Panax notoginseng*. However, Choi et al. (1994) reported an adverse observation in *P. notoginseng* callus cultures, in which the saponin content was lowered with an increase in phosphate concentration from 3.7 to 11 mM. Maximum production of selinan from cell culture of Silene vulgaris was observed at 1.25-3.75 µM phosphate (Gunter and Ovodov 2005). Similar concentrations were also shown to be optimal for pectin production by cell cultures of Panax notoginseng (Liu and Zhong 1998).

# Vitamins

The basal MS medium includes vitamins such as myo-inositol, nicotinic acid, pyridoxine-HCl and thiamine-HCl. Among these vitamins, thiamine is essential for many plant cells and other vitamins stimulate the growth of cells in some cases. Thiamine is also involved in cell biosynthesis and metabolism (Willims 1995). However, Gamborg's B5 vitamins differed from the vitamins of MS in having a high concentration of thiamine. It is also well known that isolated root cultures are very much dependent on thiamine supply for continuous growth in vitro (White 1937). Root culture of Solanum khasianum Clarke introduced to Gamborg's B5 media with vitamins at normal concentrations had showed maximum fresh growth index (FGI). However increased vitamin concentration reduced FGI but solasodine production was increased by 2 times of concentration (Jacob and Malpathak 2005).

Myo-inositol has been described as a natural constituent of plants which involved in cell membrane permeability (Loewus and Murthy 2000; Stevenson et al. 2000), stimulation of cell division when added at low concentrations to the culture medium (Thorpe et al. 2010). However, high concentrations of myo-inositol may encourage the formation of calcium-inositol and ferrous inositol complexes in the medium. Uptake of these complexes by plant cell is difficult and, therefore, osmotic potential of the culture medium is increased (Drobak and Watkins 2000). The high osmotic potential of the culture medium will therefore limit the plant biosynthesis processes and growth (Zhu 2001). In study conducted by Perez et al. (2004) with pineapple culture, the proteolytic activity of the culture significantly decreased when the myo-inositol concentration was higher than 1.10 mM. Depending on the species of plant, there were also examples where higher concentrations of myoinositol were favorable for secondary metabolite production. In the callus culture of Rheum ribes, myo-inositol at 100 mg/L increased the anthraquinone content (Sepehr and Ghorbanli 2002).

#### **Carbon sources and concentrations**

Plant cell cultures are usually grown heterotrophically using simple sugars as carbon source (Rao and Ravishankar 2002). Generally, sucrose or its component monosaccharides, glucose or fructose at 2 to 4% is the best carbon source for the growth of most plant cell cultures (Abdullah *et al.* 1998). Besides supporting growth, sugars in the culture medium serves as signaling molecules regulation division, differentiation and metabolism of the cells (Sherson *et al.* 2003; Rolland *et al.* 2006; Wang and Weathers 2007). Other sugars such as maltose also supported the growth of various plant cells. It has been established that, among these carbon sources, sucrose is energetically the most advantageous for the cultivation of plant cell cultures, particularly with regard to biosynthesis of secondary metabolites. Nevertheless, the cell cultures differ in the sequence in which they consume the inversion products of sucrose (Wu and Zhong 1999). The disaccharide, sucrose may be hydrolyzed to glucose and fructose during high temperature sterilization or can be hydrolyzed by invertase located in the cell wall (Paek *et al.* 1996; Zhang *et al.* 1996). In *Morinda elliptica*, higher biomass was yielded in 5% glucose as compared to 5% sucrose (Abdullah *et al.* 1998). In most cases, glucose has been reported as a preferred form of monosaccharide taken by cell compared to fructose (Kino-Oka *et al.* 1994; Kretz-chmar *et al.* 2007). However, catharanthine production was doubled in *Catharanthus roseus* cultures when fructose was supplied as carbon source (Kim *et al.* 2001).

Misawa (1994) revealed that the most suitable carbon source and its optimal concentration for growth as well as the secondary metabolites accumulation are plant species and products dependent. Increased sucrose concentration usually resulted in increased biomass and secondary metabolites production as observed in Catharanthus roseus callus (Zhao et al. 2001). Nevertheless, cell growth was repressed by relatively higher initial sucrose concentration, which led to a relatively higher osmotic pressure in cell cultures of Panax notoginseng (Zhang et al. 1996), Holarrhena antidysenterica (Panda et al. 1992) and Vitis vinifera (Do and Cormier 1990). Zhang and Zhong (1997) discovered that in increasing the biomass and secondary product yield, constant or intermittent feeding of sucrose or other sugars was more effective than raising the initial concentration. However, in a number of plant cells, production of secondary metabolites was affected by initial sugar concentration. For instance, cell culture of Melastoma malabathricum showed the highest pigment content (anthocyanin production) of  $0.69 \pm 0.22$  colour value per gram fresh cell mass in medium supplemented with 4.5% (w/v) sucrose (See et al. 2011). Other examples includes the accumulation of saponin by Panax notoginseng (Zhang et al. 1996) and Panax ginseng (Choi et al. 1994), carotenoid and anthocyanin by Perilla frutescens (Zhong et al. 1994; Zhong and Yoshida 1995), rosmarinic acid by Coleus blumei (Gertlowski and Petersen 1993), anthocyanin by Aralia cordata (Sakamoto et al. 1996) as well as shikonin formation by Lithospermum erythrorhizon (Srinivasan and Ryu 1993). Zhang et al. (1996) indicated high osmotic pressure caused by high sugar level as the contributing factor in high saponin production from *Panax notoginseng*.

A dual role of sucrose as carbon source and osmotic agent was also observed in *Solanum melongena*, where mannitol was added as osmoticum during the study (Rao and Ravishankar 2002). The results shown hypothesize that there could be a complex interaction between the sucrose and the level of osmoticum in the medium (Mukherjee *et al.* 1991).

# Medium pH

The pH of the medium is usually adjusted between 5 and 6 before autoclaving and extremes of pH are avoided. Medium pH generally drops by 0.6 to 1.3 units after autoclaving (Sarma *et al.* 1990; Nagella and Murthy 2010). The concentration of hydrogen ions in the medium changes during the development of the culture. This is due to the uptake of compounds required as essential nutrients or as buffer components ( $NH_4^+$ ,  $NO_3^-$ ,  $PO_4^{3+}$ ), as well as secretion of acids (lactate, malate, succinate), which is particularly pronounced during the stationary growth stage (Endress 1994). The medium pH decreased during ammonia assimilation and increases during nitrate uptake (McDonald and Jackman 1989). Photoautotropic cell suspension cultures of *Chenopodium rubrum* showed that the increase in the external pH from 4.5 to 6.3 increased the cytosolic pH by 3.0 units and the vacuolar pH by about 1.3 units (Rao and Ravishankar 2002).

The alkaloid productivity and the storage capacity were found to be influenced by the size of the pH gradient between the medium and vacuoles (Moreno *et al.* 1995). Shifting the pH of the medium between low and high values can change the permeability of cell membrane and was used to release intracellular alkaloids into the culture medium (Asada and Shuler 1989). Cultures of *Daucus carota* excreted less than 90% of anthocyanin when grown at pH 5.5 than at pH 4.5 because anthocyanin degrades at higher pH (Ramawat 1999). According to Nagella and Murthy (2010), high and low pH did not stimulate the biomass production and withanolide A production in *Withania somnifera* cell culture. In *Bacopa monnieri* shoot cultures, initial medium pH at 4.5 was found optimum for biomass accumulation and bacoside A production (Naik *et al.* 2010).

#### **Plant growth regulators**

Plant growth regulators (PGRs) play an important role in controlling and regulating plant differentiation, development and growth (Zhao *et al.* 2001). The PGRs usually have profound effects on both cell growth and product formation (Whitmer *et al.* 1998; Wu and Zhong 1999). The type and concentration of auxin or cytokinin or the auxin/cytokinin ratio alters dramatically both the growth and the product formation in cultured plant cells (Rao and Ravishankar 2002). Effects induced by plant growth regulators are not uniform with each species requires different kinds and levels of PGRs for callus induction, its growth and metabolites production (Endress 1994). Some important PGRs are auxins, cytokinins, abscisic acid, giberellin and ethylene (Moreno *et al.* 1995).

#### 1. Auxins

Auxins constitute a group of plant hormones capable of promoting several aspects of plant growth and development, such as cell division, cell extension, vascular differentiation, adventitious root formation and apical dominance (Centeno *et al.* 1999). Individual cultures differ in their sensitivity to these hormones. Collin (2001) concluded that secondary product accumulation, in general, was suppressed by the presence of high auxin levels, particularly 2,4-D (Lee *et al.* 2011). An increase in the auxin level often leads to a dedifferentiation through stimulation of cell division and consequently diminishes the level of secondary metabolites (Becker and Sauerwein 1990). This is true in the cases of indole alkaloid and anthocyanin production from *Catharanthus roseus* (Zhao *et al.* 2001) and *Oxalis reclinata* (Makunga *et al.* 1997), respectively.

The absence of production with 2,4-D was proposed by Abdullah et al. (1998) due to either a lack of induction or repression/inhibition of enzymes needed for production and also due to the lack of sufficient carbon-skeletons for the secondary metabolites pathway which might prevent an 'overflow' in the direction of synthesis. On the other hand, stimulations by 2,4-D have been observed in anthocyanin production from callus cultures of Oxalis linearis (Meyer and van Staden 1995) as well as in formononetin accumulation by suspension cultures of Glycyrrhiza glabra (Arias-Castro et al. 1993). Misawa (1994) also reported that the production of L-DOPA by Mucuna pruriens, ubiquionone-10 by Nicotiana tabacum and diosgenin by Dioscorea deltoidea were stimulated by high levels of 2,4-D. Meanwhile, elimination of 2,4-D or replacement of 2,4-D by 1-naphthaleneacetic acid (NAA) or indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) has been shown to enhance the production of anthraquinones in Morinda elliptica (Abdullah et al. 1998) and Morinda citrifolia (Hagendoorn et al. 1994; Van der Plas et al. 1995).

# 2. Cytokinins

Cytokinins have been shown to affect the expression of specific genes by both increasing and decreasing the abundance of particular proteins or mRNAs (Taha *et al.* 2008). According to their chemical structure, cytokinins can be classified into at least two broad groups, namely adenine derivatives and phenylurea derivatives. Zheng and co-researchers (1999) categorized kinetin, 6-benzylaminopurine, N<sup>6</sup>-(2-isopentenyl) adenine, zeatin and zeatin riboside as the adenine-type cytokinins while thidiazuron is a representative of the phenylurea derivative group. As described by Endress (1994), the mechanism of the cytokinin effect is that it captures free radicals or reduces their formation to very low levels. These free radicals reduce membrane integrity by their effect on phospholipases. Thus, cytokinins, stabilize membranes and indirectly affect the exportation of essential amino acids (Endress 1994).

Cytokinins have different effects depending on the type of metabolite and species concerned. Cytokinins were found to stimulate alkaloid biosynthesis in some tumorous cell lines of Catharanthus roseus (Moreno et al. 1995). It is also able to amplify the increase in alkaloid production caused by removal from the culture medium of non-tumorous C. roseus cell lines (Decendit et al. 1992). Zia et al. (2007) reported that 8.88  $\mu$ M BAP produced 3.05  $\mu$ g/g artemisinin when compared to same amount of NAA and kinetin, only 1.95  $\mu$ g/g and 1.7  $\mu$ g/g artemisinin were produced, respectively in callus of Artemisia absinthium. According to Rao and Ravishankar (2002), kinetin stimulated the production of anthocyanin in Haplopappus gracilus but inhibited the formation of anthocyanins in *Populus* cell cultures. Although kinetin is one of the most popular cytokinins, zeatin was reported as the only cytokinin that was able to stimulate production of an isoflavonoid formononetin from Glycyrrhiza glabra cells (Arias-Castro et al. 1993).

#### 3. Auxin/cytokinin ratio

Plants regulate their degree of differentiation by means of auxin/cytokinin ratios. By using appropriate combinations, the composition and concentration of secondary compounds produced by processes bound to particular differentiation patterns may be influenced. The high auxin: cytokinin ratio of 5 mg/L IBA with 0.1 mg/L thidiazuron (TDZ) had demonstrated the enhancement of the biomass as well as the content of the total phenolics and flavonoids when compared to the control, which was without cytokinin supplementation in root culture of Eleutherococcus koreanum (Lee et al. 2010). Similar results were also attained by Shim et al. (2010) on the secondary metabolite (total anthraquinones, phenolics and flavonoid) accumulation in cell suspension culture of *Morinda citrifolia* were greatly enhanced in media supplemented with 3.0 mg/L NAA and 0.9 mg/L BA, but suppressed when only auxin was present. Wu and Zhong (1999) demonstrated that not only the individual phytohormone level but also their combination had a significant influence on cell growth and ginsenoside accumulation in Panax notoginseng. Similar observation was also attained in the production of camptothecin by Nothapodytes foetida (Thengane et al. 2003), anthraquinone by Morinda elliptica (Abdullah et al. 1998) and Rheum ribes (Sepehr and Ghorbanli 2002), jaceosidin by Saussurea medusa (Zhao et al. 2001) as well as indole alkaloid by Catharanthus roseus (Zhao et al. 2001).

# **ELICITATION**

An elicitor may be defined as a substance which, when introduced in small concentration to a living cell system, initiates or improves the biosynthesis of specific compounds (Radman *et al.* 2003). Elicitors can be classified on the basis of their 'nature' like abiotic elicitors (e.g. jasmonic acid) or biotic elicitors (e.g. yeast extract and enzyme), or on the basis of their 'origin' like exogenous elicitors (e.g. glucans and glycoproteins) and endogenous elicitors (e.g. alginate oligomers and hepta- $\beta$ -glucosides) (Namdeo 2007). Elicitation, which refers to the treatment of plant cells with biotic and abiotic elicitors, has been one of the most effective means for enhancing secondary metabolite production in plant tissue cultures (Roberts and Shuler 1997; Rao and Ravishankar 2002). This strategy works on the basis that the accumulation of most secondary metabolites in plants is part of the defense responses of plants to pathogen infection and environmental stimuli (stress).

Biotic elicitors include polysaccharides derived from plant cell walls or microorganisms, glycoproteins and low molecular weight organic acids (Dörnenburg and Knorr 1995). Yeast extract is one of the most common biotic elicitor studied in plant-microbe interaction. In the study of isoflavonoid accumulation in Pueraria candollei var. candollei and P. candollei var. mirifica suspension culture, yeast extract enhanced the early accumulation of isoflavonoids after elicitation (Korsangruang et al. 2010). A crude extract from Fusarium oxysporum increased the taxol production in suspension cultures of Taxus chinensis var. 'Mairei' by 3-fold (Yuan et al. 2002). Park et al. (1995) who studied the cell cultures of Pueraria lobata, discovered that by the addition of yeast extract to the cell cultures, it stimulated the accumulation of isoflavones and daidzein dimers. Meanwhile, extracts of Aspergillus niger and Rhizopus oryzae showed a positive effect on shikonin production in suspension cultures of Arnebia euchroma (Fu and Lu 1999).

Abiotic elicitors are substances of non-biological origin, predominantly inorganic salts, and physical factors acting as elicitors like Cu and Cd ions, Ca<sup>2+</sup> or high pH, environmental stress factors such as osmotic shock, presence of heavy metal ions or other chemicals and UV radiation. For example, treating hairy root cultures of Beta vulgaris with up to 10-fold calcium higher than that present in the basal medium increased the production of betalains by 3-fold (Savitha et al. 2005). Likewise, the addition of 0.05M of potassium chloride increased the ajmalicine production in Catharanthus roseus by 4-fold as compared to the untreated cells (Zhao et al. 2001a). Current study conducted by Li et al. (2011) on the addition of sodium nitroprusside (SNP), a donor of nitric oxide, had shown to stimulate terpenoid indole alkaloids formation at growth phase of Catharanthus roseus hairy root culture.

#### PRECURSOR FEEDING

With the basis of the knowledge on biosynthetic pathways, several organic compounds have been added to the culture medium in order to enhance the synthesis of secondary metabolites (Namdeo *et al.* 2007). Precursor feeding has been an obvious and popular approach to increase secondary metabolites production in plant cell cultures. Precursor feeding is based on the idea that any compound, which is an intermediate, in or at the beginning of a secondary metabolite biosynthetic route, stands a good chance of increasing the yield of the final product (Rao and Ravishankar 2002).

Many strategies were attempted to synthesize the desired secondary metabolites in appreciable quantity and at competitive economic value but failed to gain commercial exploitation (Namdeo et al. 2007). This may reflect the poor understanding of basic secondary metabolic regulation in plant cell cultures. Precursor feeding to some plant cell culture systems may be promising as it showed favorable results. For example, precursors of alkaloid biosynthesis, the amino acids, have been added to cell suspension cultures for the production of tropane alkaloids, indole alkaloids, etc. Addition of phenylalanine to Salvia officinalis cell suspension cultures stimulated the production of rosmarinic acid (Ellis and Towers 1970). Addition of the same precursor resulted in stimulation of taxol production in Taxus cultures (Fett-Neto et al. 1993, 1994). Similarly, feeding ferulic acid to cultures of Vanilla planifolia resulted in an increase in vanillin accumulation (Romagnoli and Knorr 1988). Recent study done by Chamnipa et al. (2010) on the cell culture of Vitex glabrata R.Br. using 5 mg/L cholesterol as precursor had significant improvements on the cell growth and production of 20-hydroxyecdysone. Another study conducted by Palacio et al. (2011) on Larrea divaricata Cav. plant cell cultures had reported feeding of

0.5 mM of L-phenylalanine resulted in an increase of nordihydroguaiaretic acid (NDGA) by 2.2-fold higher than in the control. Studies also revealed that squalene, one of the precursors in triterpenes biosynthetic pathway, was found to increase the production of madecassoside and asiaticoside in the callus of *Centella asiatica* (Ling *et al.* 2005). The successful example of precursor feeding is still very limited as the key to successful protocol using precursor feeding lies in the identification of cheapest by product of other process which can be converted to desired secondary metabolite by selected plant cell line (Sevón and Oksman-Cakdentey 2002; Verpoorte and Memelink 2002).

#### **FUTURE PERSPECTIVES**

Despite the many studies conducted over the years on the production of secondary metabolites via *in vitro* approach, some challenges still persist until today mainly in the understanding of biochemistry mechanisms of the small molecule production and the vast diversity of plant species and its products. Recent improvements on the analytical methods and bioreactors design may push forward the pace of commercialization of plant produced products. In addition, the advancement in modern biotechnology has led to the enhancement as well as 'manufacturing' of molecules trough metabolic engineering. Plant metabolic engineering refers to the purposeful alteration of genes and metabolic pathways within the plant cells in order to increase the production of a specific substance. Nevertheless, concerted efforts are still required in this aspect of research.

#### REFERENCES

- Abdullah MA, Ali AM, Marziah M, Lajis NH, Ariff AB (1998) Establishment of cell suspension cultures of *Morinda elliptica* for the production of anthraquinones. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 54, 173-182
- Abdullah MA, Lajis NH, Ali AM, Marziah M, Sinskey AJ, Rha CK (2005) Issues in plant cell culture engineering for enhancement of productivity. Development of Chemical Engineering Process 13, 1-15
- Amdoun R, Khelifi L, Khelifi-Slaoui M, Amroune S, Benyoussef E-H, Thi DV, Assaf-Ducrocq C, Gontier E (2009) Influence of minerals and elicitation on *Datura stramonium* L. tropane alkaloid production: Modelization of the *in vitro* biochemical responce. *Plant Science* 177, 81-87
- Arias-Castro C, Scragg AH, Rodriguez-Mendiola MA (1993) The effect of cultural conditions on the accumulation of formononetin by suspension cultures of *Glycyrrhiza glabra*. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 34, 63-70
- Arrebola ML, Ringbom T, Verpoorte R (1999) Anthraquinones from Isoplexis isabelliana cell suspension cultures. Phytochemistry 52, 1283-1286
- Asada M, Shuler ML (1989) Stimulation of ajmalicine production and excretion from *Catharanthus roseus*: Effects of adsorption *in situ* elicitors and alginate immobilization. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* **30**, 478-481
- Baque MA, Lee EJ, Paek KY (2010) Medium salt strength induced changes in growth, physiology and secondary metabolite content in adventitious roots of *Morinda citrifolia*: The role of antioxidant enzymes and phenylalanine ammonia lyase. *Plant Cell Reports* 29, 685-694
- Becker H, Sauerwein M (1990) Manipulating the biosynthetic capacity of plant cell cultures. In: Charlwood BV, Rhodes MJ (Eds) Secondary Product from Plant Tissue Culture, Clarendon Press, Oxford, pp 43-57
- Bhalsingh SB, Maheshwari VL (1998) Plant tissue culture: A potential source of medicinal compounds. *Journal of Scientific and Industrial Research* 57, 703-708
- Bourgaud F, Gravot A, Milesi S, Gontier E (2001) Production of plant secondary metabolites: A historical perspective. *Plant Science* 161, 839-851
- Centeno ML, Fernandez B, Feito I, Rodriguez A (1999) Uptake, distribution and metabolism of 1-naphthaleneacetic acid and indole-3-acetic acid during callus initiation from *Actinidia deliciosa* tissues. *Journal of Plant Growth Regulation* 18, 81-88
- Chamnipa N, Thanonkeo P, Thononkeo S, Siri N (2010) Improvement of 20hydroxyecdysone production in cell suspension cultures of *Vitex glabrata* R.Br. by precursor and elicitors feeding. *Journal of Biotechnology* 150, 483-483
- Choi KT, Ahn IO, Park JC (1994) Production of ginseng saponin in tissue culture of ginseng (*Panax ginseng* C.A. Mayer). *Russian Journal of Plant Phy*siology 41, 784-788
- Christen AA, Bland J, Gibson DM (1989) Cell cultures as a means to produce taxol. Proceedings of the American Association of Cancer Research 30, 566
- **Collin HA** (2001) Secondary product formation in plant tissue cultures. *Plant Growth Regulation* **34**, 119-134
- Collin HA, Watts M (1984) Flavour production in culture. In: Evans DA,

Sharp WR, Ammirato PV, Yamada Y (Eds) *Handbook of Plant Cell Culture* (Vol 1), Macmillan Publishing, New York, pp 729-747

- Cragg GM, Schepartz SA, Suffuess M, Grever MR (1993) The taxol supply crisis. New NCI policies for handling the large-scale production of novel natural product anticancer and anti-HIV agents. *Journal of Natural Product* 56, 1657-1668
- Croteau R, Ketchum REB, Long RM, Kaspera R, Wildung MR (2006) Taxol biosynthesis and molecular genetics. *Phytochemistry Reviews* 5, 75-97
- Cusido RM, Palazon J, Navia-Osorio A, Mallol A, Bonfill M, Morales C, Pinol MT (1999) Production of taxol and baccatin III by a selected *Taxus* baccata callus line and its derived cell suspension culture. *Plant Science* 146, 101-107
- Datta MM, Majunder A, Jha S (2006) Organogenesis and plant regeneration in *Taxus wallichiana* (Zucc.). *Plant Cell Reports* 25, 11-18
- Decendit A, Liu D, Ovelhazi L, Doireau P, Meriilion JM, Rideau M (1992) Cytokinin-enhanced accumulation of indole alkaloids in *Catharanthus roseus* cell cultures: The factors affecting the cytokinin response. *Plant Cell Reports* **11**, 400-403
- **Do CB, Cormier F** (1990) Accumulation of anthocyanins enhanced by a high osmotic potential in grape (*Vitis vinifera* L.) cell suspensions. *Plant Cell Reports* **9**, 143-146
- Dornenburg H, Knorr D (1995) Strategies for the improvement of secondary metabolite production in plant cell cultures. *Enzyme and Microbial Tech*nology 17, 674-684
- **Drobak BK, Watkins PAC** (2000) Inositol (1,4,5) trisphosphate production in plant cells: An early response to salinity and hyperosmotic stress. *FEBS Letters* **481**, 240-244
- Edahiro J, Nakamura M, Seki M, Furusaki S (2005) Enhanced accumulation of anthocyanin in cultured strawberry cells by repetitive feeding of L-phenylalanine into the medium. *Journal of Bioscience and Bioengineering* **99**, 43-47
- Eibl R, Eibl D (2008) Plant cell-based bioprocessing. Biomedical and life sciences. In: Eibl R, Eibl D, Portner R, Catapano G, Czermak P (Eds) *Cell and Tissue Reaction Engineering*, Springer, Berlin, pp 315-356
- Eilert U, Kurz WGW, Constabel F (1985) Stimulation of sanguinarine accumulation in *Papaver somniferum* cell cultures by fungal elicitors. *Journal* of *Plant Physiology* 119, 65-76
- Ellis BE, Towers GHN (1970) Biogenesis of rosamrinic acid in Mentha. Journal of Biochemistry 118, 291-297
- Endress R (Ed) (1994) Plant cells as producers of secondary compounds. In: Plant Cell Biotechnology, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp 121-251
- Fett-Neto AG, Melanson SJ, Sakata K, DiCosmo F (1993) Improved growth and taxol yield in developing calli of *Taxus cuspidata* by medium composition modification. *Biotechnology* 11, 731-734
- Fett-Neto AG, Stewart JM, Nicholson SA, Pennington JJ, Di-Cosmo F (1994) Improved taxol yield by aromatic carboxylic acid and amino acid feeding to cell cultures of *T. cuspidata. Biotechnology and Bioengineering* **44**, 967-971
- Fu XQ, Lu DW (1999) Stimulation of shikonin production by combined fungal elicitation and *in situ* extraction in suspension cultures of *Arnebia euchroma*. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology* **24**, 243-246
- Fujita Y, Tabata M (1987) Secondary metabolites from plant cells pharmaceutical application and progress in commercial production. In: Green CE, Hackett WP, Somers DA (Eds) *Plant Tissue and Cell Culture*, Alan Liss, New York, pp 169-185
- Gamborg OL, Miller RA, Ojima K (1968) Nutrient requirements of suspension cultures of soybean root cells. *Experimental Cell Research* 50, 151-158
- Gertlowski C, Petersen M (1993) Influence of carbon source on growth and rosmarinic acid production in suspension cultures of *Coleus blumei*. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* **34**, 183-190
- Gunter EA, Ovodov YS (2005) Effect of calcium, phosphate and nitrogen on cell growth and biosynthesis of cell was polysaccharides by *Silene vulgaris* cell culture. *Journal of Biotechnology* **117**, 385-393
- Guo BH, Kai GY, Jin HB, Tang KX (2006) Taxol synthesis. African Journal of Biotechnology 5, 15-20
- Hagendoorn MJM, Van der Plas LHW, Segers GJ (1994) Accumulation of anthraquinones in *Morinda citrifolia* cell suspensions: A model system for the study of interaction between secondary and primary metabolism. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* **38**, 227-234
- Jacob A, Malpathak N (2005) Manipulation of MS and B5 components for enhancement of growth and solasodine production in hairy root cultures of *Solanum khasianum* Clarke. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 80, 247-257
- Jan S, Parween T, Siddiqi TO, Mahmooduzzafar (2011) Gamma radiation effects on growth and yield attributes of *Psoralea corylifolia* L. with reference to enhanced production of psoralen. *Plant Growth Regulation* 64, 163-171
- Jang YP, Lee YJ, Kim YC, Huh H (1998) Production of a hepatoprotective cerebroside from suspension cultures of *Lycium chinense*. *Plant Cell Reports* 18, 252-254
- Karuppusamy S (2009) A review on trends in production of secondary metabolites from higher plants by *in vitro* tissue, organ and cell cultures. *Journal of Medicinal Plants Research* **3**, 1222-1239

Kim YJ, Wyslouzil BE, Weathers PJ (2001) Secondary metabolism of hairy

root cultures in bioreactors. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology -Plant 38, 1-10

- Kim DJ, Chang HN (1990) Enhanced shikonin production from *Lithospenum* erthrorhizon by in situ extraction and calcium alginate immobilization. *Bio*technology and Bioengineering 36, 460-466
- Kino-Oka M, Mine K, Taya M, Tone S, Ichi T (1994) Production and release of anthraquinone pigments by hairy roots of madder (*Rubia tinctorum* L.) under improved culture conditions. *Journal of Fermentation and Bioengineering* 77, 103-106
- Kintzios S, Drossopoulos JB, Lymperopoulos C (2001) Effect of vitamins and inorganic micronutrients on callus growth and somatic embryogenesis from leaves of chilli pepper. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* **67**, 55-62
- Korsangruang S, Soonthornchareonnon N, Chintapakorn Y, Saralamp P, Prathanturarug S (2010) Effects of abiotic and biotic elicitors on growth and isoflavonoid accumulation in *Pueraria candollei* var. Candollei and *P. candollei* var. Mirifica cell suspension cultures. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 103, 333-342
- Kretzchmar SF, Oliveira Jr. CJF, Braga MR (2007) Differential sugar uptake by cell suspension cultures of *Rudgea jasminoides*, a tropical woody Rubiaceae. In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant 43, 71-78
- Lee EJ, Kim MK, Paek KY (2010) Auxin and cytokinin affect biomass and bioactive compound production from adventitious roots of *Eleutherococcus* koreanum. Korean Journal of Horticultural Science and Technology 28, 678-684
- Lee Y, Lee DE, Lee HS, Kim SK, Lee WS, Kim SH, Kim MW (2011) Influence of auxins, cytokinins, and nitrogen on production of rutin from callus and adventitious roots of the white mulberry tree (*Morus alba* L.). *Plant Cell*, *Tissue and Organ Culture* **105**, 9-19
- Li M, Peebles AMC, Shanks JV, San KY (2011) Effect of sodium nitroprusside on growth and terpenoid indole alkaloid production in *Catharanthus* roseus hairy root cultures. *Biotechnology Progress* 27, 625-630
- Ling APK, Mahmood M, Mohd Fadzillah N, Daud SK (2005) Effects of precursor supplementation on the production of triterpens by *Centella asiatica* callus cultures. *Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences* 8, 1160-1169
- Liu S, Zhong J (1998) Phosphate effect on production of ginseng saponin and polysaccharide by cell suspension cultures of *Panax ginseng* and *Panax quinquefolium*. Process Biochemistry 33, 69-74
- Loewus FA, Murthy PN (2000) Myo-inositol metabolism in plants. Plant Science 150, 1-19
- Makunga NP, van Staden J, Cress WA (1997) The effect of light and 2,4-D on anthocyanin production in Oxalis reclinata callus. Plant Growth Regulation 23, 153-158
- McDonald KA, Jackman AP (1989) Bioreactor studies of growth and nutrient utilization in alfalfa suspension cultures. *Plant Cell Reports* **8**, 455-458
- Meyer HJ, van Staden J (1995) The *in vitro* production of an anthocyanin from callus cultures of *Oxalis linearis*. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* **40**, 55-58
- Misawa M (1994) Plant tissue culture: An alternative for production of useful metabolite. FAO Agricultural Service Bulletin No. 108, Bio International Inc., Rome, Italy, pp 26-32
- Moreno PRH, Van der Haijden R, Verpoorte R (1993) Effect of terpenoid precursor feeding and elicitation on formation of indole alkaloids in cell suspension cultures of *Catharanthus roseus*. *Plant Cell Reports* 12, 702-705
- Moreno PRH, Van der Haijden R, Verpoorte R (1995) Cell and tissue cultures of *Catharanthus roseus*. A literature survey: II. Updating from 1988 to 1993. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* **2**, 1-25
- Mukherjee SK, Rathinasabapathi B, Gupta N (1991) Low sugar and osmotic requirements for shoot regeneration from leaf pieces of *Solanum melongena* L. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* 25, 13-16
- Murashige T, Skoog F (1962) A revised medium for rapid growth and bioassays with tobacco tissue cultures. *Plant Physiology* 15, 473-479
- Nagella P, Murthy HN (2010) Establishment of cell suspension cultures of Withania somnifera for the production of withanolide A. Bioresource Technology 101, 6735-6739
- Naik PM, Manohar SH, Praveen N, Murthy HN (2010) Effect of surcrose and pH levels on *in vitro* shoot regeneration from leaf explants of *Bacopa monnieri* and accumulation of bacoside A in regenerated shoots. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 100, 235-239
- Nakao K, Ono K, Takio S (1999) The effect of calcium on flavanol production in cell suspension cultures of *Polygonum hydropiper*. *Plant Cell Reports* 18, 759-763
- Namdeo AG (2007) Plant cell elicitation for production of secondary metabolites: A review. *Pharmacognosy Reviews* 1, 69-79
- Namdeo AG, Jadhav TS, Rai PK, Gavali S, Mahadik KR (2007) Precursor feeding for enhanced production of secondary metabolites: A review. *Phar*macognosy Reviews 1, 227-231
- Nazif NM, Rady MR, Seif El-Nasr MM (2000) Stimulation of anthraquinone production in suspension cultures of *Cassia acutifolia* by salt stress. *Fitoterapia* 71, 34-40
- Orihara Y, Yang JW, Komiya N, Koge K, Yoshikawa T (2002) Abietane diterpenoid from suspension cultured cells of *Torreya nucifera* var. *radicans*. *Phytochemistry* 59, 385-389

Paek YW, Hwang SJ, Park DH, Hwang B (1996) Multiplication and transfor-

mation of medicinal plants for production of useful secondary metabolites II. Establishment of hairy root cultures of *Centella asiatica. Journal of Plant Biology* **39**, 161-166

- Palacio L, Cantero JJ, Cusido R, Goleniowski M (2011) Phenolic compound production by *Larrea divaricata* Cav. plant cell cultures and effect of precursor feeding. *Process Biochemistry* 46, 418-422
- Panda AK, Mishra S, Bisaria VS (1992) Alkaloid production by plant cell suspension of *Holarrhena antidysenterica*: I. Effect of major nutrients. *Biotechnology Bioengineering* 39, 1043-1051
- Park HH, Hakamatsuka T, Sankawa U, Ebizuka Y (1995) Rapid metabolism of isoflavonoids in elicitor-treated cell suspension cultures of *Pueraria lobata*. *Phytochemistry* 38, 373-380
- Pérez A, Nápoles L, Carvajal C, Hernández M, Lorenzo JC (2004) Effect of sucrose, inorganic salts, inositol, and thiamine on protease excretion during pineapple culture in temporary immersion bioreactors. *In Vitro Cellular and Developmental Biology – Plant* 40, 311-316
- Radman R, Sacz T, Bucke C, Keshavarz T (2003) Elicitation of plant and microbial systems. *Biotechnology and Applied Biochemistry* **37**, 91-102
- Raghothama KG (2000) Phosphate transport and signalling. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 3, 182-187
- Rajasekaran T, Ravishankar GA, Venkataraman LV (1991) Influence of nutrient stress on pyrethrin production by cultured cells of pyrethrum (*Chrysanthemum cinerariaefolium*). Current Science 60, 705-707
- Ramawat KG (1999) Production in culture: Optimization. In: Ramawat KG, Merillon JM (Eds) *Biotechnology Secondary Metabolites*, Science Publisher, USA, pp 123-143
- Rao SR, Ravishankar GA (2002) Plant cell cultures: Chemical factories of secondary metabolites. *Biotechnology Advances* 20, 101-153
- Rech SB, Batista CVF, Schripsema J, Verpoorte R, Henriques AT (1998) Cell cultures of *Rauwolfia sellowii*: Growth and alkaloid production. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* **54**, 61-63
- Reinsvold RE, Jinkerson RE, Radakovits R, Posewitz MC, Basu C (2011) The production of the sesquiterpene beta-caryophyllene in a transgenic strain of the *Cyanobacterium synechocystis*. *Journal of Plant Physiology* **168**, 848-852
- Roberts SC, Shuler ML (1997) Large-scale plant cell culture. Current Opinion in Biotechnology 8, 154-159
- Rolland F, Baena-Gonzalez E, Sheen J (2006) Sugar sensing and signalling in plants: Conserved and novel mechanisms. *Annual Review of Plant Biology* 57, 675-709
- Romagnoli LG, Knorr D (1988) Effects of ferulic acid treatment on growth and flavour development of cultured *Vanilla planifolia* cells. *Food Biotechnology* **2**, 93-104
- Sakamoto K, Asada Y, Furaya T (1996) Aralia cordata: In vitro culture and the production of anthocyanins. In Bajaj YPS (Ed) Biotechnology in Agriculture and Forestry 37, Medicinal and Aromatic Plants IX, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp 38-63
- Sarma KS, Maesato K, Hara T, Somoda Y (1990) Effect of method of agar addition on post-autoclave pH of the tissue culture media. *Annals of Botany* 65, 37-40
- Savitha BC, Thimmaraju R, Bhagyalakshmi N, Ravishankar GA (2005) Different biotic and abiotic elicitors influence betalain production in hairy rot cultures of *Beta vulgaris* in shake flask and bioreactor. *Process Biochemistry* 41, 50-60
- Schripsema J, Ramos-Valdivia A, Verpoorte R (1999) Robustaquinones, novel anthraquinones from an elicited *Cinchona robusta* suspension culture. *Phytochemistry* 51, 55-60
- See KS, Bhatt A, Keng CL (2011) Effect of sucrose and methyl jasmonate on biomass and anthocyanin in cell suspension culture of *Melastoma malabathricum* (Melastomaceae). *Revista de Biologia Tropical* 59, 597-606
- Sepehr FM, Ghorbanli M (2002) Effects of nutritional factors on the formulation of anthraquinones in callus cultures of *Rheum ribes*. *Plant Cell, Tissue* and Organ Culture 68, 171-175
- Sevón N, Oksman-Caldentey KM (2002) Agrobacterium rhizogenes-mediated transformation: Root cultures as a source of alkaloids. Planta Medica 68, 859-868
- Sherson SM, Alford HL, Forbes SM, Wallace G, Smith SM (2003) Roles of cell-wall incertases and monosaccharide transporters in the growth and development of *Arabidopsis*. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 54, 525-531
- Shim KM, Hahn EJ, Jeon WK, Paek KY (2010) Accumulation of cell biomass anthraquinones, phenolics, and flavonoids as affected by auxin, cytokinin, and medium salt strength in cell suspension culture of *Morinda citrifolia*. Korean Journal of Horticultural Science and Technology 28, 288-294
- Shinmyo A, Shoji T, Bando E, Nagaya S, Nakai Y, Kato K, Sekine M, Yoshida K (1998) Metabolic engineering of cultured tobacco cells. *Biotechnology Bioengineering* 58, 329-332
- Smith JI, Smart NJ, Misawa WGW, Kurtz SG (1987) The use of organic and inorganic compounds to increase the accumulation of indole alkaloids in *Catharanthus roseus* (L.) G. Don cell suspension cultures. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 38, 1501-1506
- Smetanska I (2008) Production of secondary metabolites using plant cell cultures. Advanced in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology 111, 197-228

Srinivasan V, Ryu DDY (1993) Improvement of shikonin productivity in

Lithospermum erythrorhizon cell cultures by alternating carbon and nitrogen feeding strategy. Biotechnology Bioengineering **42**, 793-799

- Stevenson JM, Perera IY, Heilmann I, Persson S, Boss WF (2000) Inositol signaling and plant growth. *Trends in Plant Science* 5, 252-258
- Sugiharto B, Sugiyama T (1992) Effects of nitrate and ammonium on gene expression of phosphoenolpyruvate carboxylase and nitrogen metabolism in maize leaf tissue during recovery from nitrogen stress. *Plant Physiology* 98, 1403-1408
- Tabata H (2004) Paclitaxel production by plant-cell-culture technology. Advances in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology 87, 1-23
- Taha HS, Abdul El-Rahman RA, Fathalla M, Abdul El-Kareem, Aly UE (2008) Successful application for enhancement and production of anthocyanin pigment from calli cultures of some ornamental plants. *Australian Journal of Basic and Applied Sciences* **2**, 1148-1156
- Ten Hoopen HJG, Van Gulik WM, Schlatmann JE, Moreno PRH, Vinke JL, Heijnen JJ, Verpoorte R (1999) Ajmalicine production by cell cultures of *Catharanthus roseus*: From shake flask to bioreactor. *Plant Cell, Tissue, and Organ Culture* 38, 85-91
- Thengane SR, Kulkarni DK, Shrikhande VA, Joshi SP, Sonawane KB, Krishnamurthy KV (2003) Influence of medium composition on callus induction and camptothecin(s) accumulation in Nothapodytes foetida. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 72, 247-251
- Thorpe T, Yeung SEA, de Klerk GJ, Robert A, George EF (2010) The component of plant tissue culture media II: organic additives, osmotic and pH effects, and support systems. In: George EF, Hall MA, de Klerk GJ (Eds) *Plant Propagation by Tissue Culture (Vol 1) The Background* (3<sup>rd</sup> Edn), Springer, The Netherlands, pp 115-174
- Ulbrich B, Wiesner W, Arens H (1985) Large scale production of rosmarinic acid from plant cell cultures of *Coleus blumei* Benth. In: Neumann KH, Barz W, Reinhard E (Eds) *Primary and Secondary Metabolism of Plant Cell Cultures*, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, pp 293-303
- Ushiyama K (1991) Large-scale culture of ginseng. In: Komamine A, Misawa M, DiCosmo F (Eds) *Plant Cell Culture in Japan*, CMC, Tokyo, pp 92-98
- Van der Plas LHW, Eijkelboom C, Hagendoorn MJM (1995) Relation between primary and secondary metabolism in plant cell suspensions: Competition between secondary metabolite production and growth in a model system (*Morinda citrifolia*). Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture 43, 111-116
- Vanisree M, Lee CY, Lo SF, Nalawade SM, Lin CY, Tsay HS (2004) Studies on the production of some important metabolites from medicinal plants by plant tissue cultures. *The Botanical Bulletin of Academia Sinica* 45, 1-22
- Verpoorte R, Memelink J (2002) Engineering secondary metabolite production in plants. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology* 13, 181-187
- Verpoorte R, Van der Heijden R, Hoge JHC, ten Hoopen HJG (1994) Plant cell biotechnology for the production of secondary metabolites. *Pure and Applied Chemistry* 66, 2307-2310
- Wang Y, Weathers PJ (2007) Sugars proportionately affect artermisinin production. *Plant Cell Report* 26, 1073-1081
- White PR (1937) Vitamin B1 in the nutrition of excised tomato roots. *Plant Physiology* **12**, 803-811
- Whitmer S, Canel C, Hallard D, Goncalves C, Verpoorte R (1998) Influence of precursor availability on alkaloid accumulation by transgenic cell lines of *Catharanthus roseus*. *Plant Physiology* 116, 853-857
- Willims RR (1995) The chemical microenvironment. In: Aitken-Christie J, Kozai T, Smith MAL (Eds) *Automation and Environmental Control in Plant Tissue Culture*, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, pp 405-439
- Wu J, Zhong JJ (1999) Production of ginseng and its bioactive components in plant cell culture: Current technological and applied aspects. *Journal of Bio*technology 68, 89-99
- Wu J, Wang C, Mei X (2001) Stimulation of taxol production and excretion in Taxus spp. cell cultures by rare earth chemical lanthanum. Journal of Biotechnology 85, 67-73
- Yuan YJ, Li C, Hu ZD, Wu JC, Zeng AP (2002) Fungal elicitor-induced cell apoptosis in suspension cultures of *Taxus chinensis* var. Mairei for taxol production. *Process Biochemistry* 38, 193-198
- Zhang P, Li ST, Liu TT, Fu CH, Zhou PP, Zhan CF, Yu LJ (2011) Overexpresseion of a 10-deacetylbaccatin III-10- $\beta$ -O-acetyltransferase gene leads to increased taxol yield in cells of *Taxus chinensis*. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* **106**, 63-70
- Zhang YH, Zhong JJ (1997) Hyperproduction of ginseng saponin and polysaccharide by high density cultivation of *Panax notoginseng* cells. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology* 21, 59-63
- Zhang YH, Zhong JJ, Yu JT (1996) Effect of nitrogen source on cell growth and production of ginseng saponin and polysaccharide in suspension cultures of *Panax notoginseng*. *Biotechnology Progress* 12, 567-571
- Zhao J, Fujita K, Yamada J, Sakai K (2001) Improved beta-thujaplicin production in *Cupressus lusitanica* suspension cultures by fungal elicitor and methyl jasmonate. *Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology* 55, 301-305
- Zhao J, Zhu W, Hu Q (2001a) Enhanced catharanthine production in *Catharanthus roseus* cell cultures by combined elicitor treatment in shake flasks and bioreactors. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology* 28, 673-681
- Zheng S, Henken B, Sofiari E, Keizer P, Jacobsen E, Kik C, Krens F (1999) Effect of cytokinins and lines on plant regeneration from long-term callus and suspension cultures of *Allium cepa* L. *Euphytica* **108**, 83-90

- Zhong JJ (2001) Biochemical engineering of the production of plant-specific secondary metabolites by cell suspension cultures. *Advances in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology* 72, 1-26
- Zhong JJ, Yoshida T (1995) High-density cultivation of *Perilla frutescens* cell suspension for anthocyanin production: Effects of sucrose concentration and inoculum size. *Enzyme Microbial Technology* 17, 1073-1079

Zhong JJ, Xu GR, Yoshida T (1994) Effect of initial sucrose concentration on

excretion of anthocyanin pigments in suspended cultures of *Perilla frutes*cens cells. *World Journal of Microbial and Biotechnology* **10**, 590-592

- Zhu JK (2001) Plant salt tolerance. Trends in Plant Science 6, 66-71
- Zia M, Mannan A, Chaudhary F (2007) Effect of growth regulators and amino acids on artemisinin production in the callus of *Artemisia absinthium*. *Pakistan Journal of Botany* 39, 799-805